## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GULF POWER COMPANY

Appellant,

vs.

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

Appellee.

Appeal from an order of the Florida Public Service Commission

Case No. 77,153

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT GULF POWER COMPANY

G. Edison Holland, Jr.
Jeffrey A. Stone
Teresa E. Liles
BEGGS & LANE
P.O. Box 12950
Pensacola, Florida 32576-2950
(904) 432-2451

and

Alan C. Sundberg
Sylvia H. Walbolt
E. Kelly Bittick, Jr.
CARLTON, FIELDS, WARD, EMMANUEL,
SMITH & CUTLER, P.A.
One Harbour Place
Post Office Box 3239
Tampa, Florida 33601
(813) 223-7000
Attorneys for Appellant Gulf
Power Company

#

# PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, appellant Gulf Power Company will be referred to as "Gulf Power," or the "Company." Appellee Florida Public Service Commission will be referred to as "the PSC" or "the Commission."

References to the record on appeal will be indicated as "(R. \_\_)." References to the transcript of the hearings will be indicated as "(Tr. \_\_)." References to transcripts of Pensacola and Panama City Service Hearings will be indicated as "(Pensacola Serv. Tr. \_\_\_)" and "(Panama City Serv. Tr. \_\_\_)." Commission Order No. 23573, dated October 3, 1990, as modified by the Order on Reconsideration, Order No. 13894 ("R. Order"), dated December 17, 1990, will be referred to as "the Order," and a copy of both of those orders is set forth in the Appendix (Volume I) to this brief at Tab 1. Volume II of the Appendix contains copies of orders not published in West reporters. All references to the Appendix are designated as "(App. Tab \_\_)."

All emphasis is supplied unless otherwise noted.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On December 15, 1989, Gulf Power filed rate schedules with the Florida Public Service Commission which, if approved by the Commission, would have allowed the Company to earn an additional \$26.3 million in revenues, based on a requested return on equity of 13.00%. (R. 25, 27). Docket No. 891345-EI was formally opened by the Commission for the purpose of considering Gulf Power's petition for a rate increase. In Order No. 22681 issued March 13, 1990, the Commission suspended the filed rate schedules pending formal hearings. (R. 1285, 1297-98). An interim rate increase of \$5,751,000 was awarded in that order. (R. 1298). Based upon market conditions that developed after Gulf Power's petition was filed, Gulf Power subsequently increased its requested rate of return on equity from 13.00% to 13.50%. (Tr. 3208).

The year 1990 was approved by the Commission as an appropriate "test year" (R. 4-5) and the PSC projected data as to Gulf Power's operations and expenses for that discrete time period in order to set Gulf Power's future rates. As the Commission later explained in its final order, the test year "provides a set period of utility operations that may be analyzed so the Commission can set reasonable rates for the period the rates will be in effect." (Order at 7, App. Tab 1). The Commission found that a 1990 test year, if appropriately developed and adjusted, would "reasonably represent expected future operations." (Id.).

Prehearing statements were filed by all parties. In its prehearing statement, the Staff of the Florida Public Service Commission ("Commission Staff" or "Staff") identified an issue for the Commission's consideration which came to be designated "Issue 38" in the final Prehearing Order (Order No. 23025), entered by the Commission on June 4, 1990. Issue 38 was stated as follows in that order:

38. Should the newly authorized return on common equity be reduced if it is determined that Gulf Power has been mismanaged?

In that same order, Issue 37 was stated as follows:

37. What is the appropriate cost of common equity capital for Gulf Power?

(R. 1606).

The parties took various positions on Issue 38, which arose out of certain improper corporate activities, such as illegal political contributions and employee theft of Company property. 1/(Tr. 2980-94). These activities centered around then Gulf Power senior vice president Jacob Horton, and all occurred during the period from the early 1980's through 1988. (R. 2392-2400; Tr. 3003-04, 3018-19, 3022, 3031). Staff and the Office of Public Counsel urged that these activities constituted mismanagement on the part of Gulf Power, and they recommended 50 and 200 basis point reductions, respectively, to the rate of return on equity

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{1}{2}$  Gulf Power's citations to the Commission's findings with regard to the alleged improper conduct are for purposes of this appeal only and are in no way intended to constitute an admission by Gulf Power of mismanagement.

otherwise recommended as fair and reasonable under Issue 37. (R. 1606, 2382, 2392, 2400). Gulf Power took the position that no such penalty was proper. (R. 1606).

Hearings were held June 1-22, 1990, at which time the Company presented evidence and testimony in support of its petition for a rate increase. Gulf Power's President, Douglas L. McCrary, and then-Chief Auditor, George A. Fell, testified and were cross examined extensively on Issue 38. (Tr. 20-282, 4155-4206 [McCrary], 4506-4154 [Fell]). On that issue, Gulf Power also presented the testimony of Mark Bell, a partner in Arthur Anderson & Co., retained as the independent auditor for Gulf Power Co. (Tr. 683-729, 3759-74). These witnesses, along with Gulf Power's Vice-President/Finance, Arlan E. Scarbrough, testified concerning the corrective measures Gulf Power had already taken in order to prevent the occurrence of any such illegal or unethical activities by employees or vendors of the Company. (Tr. 513-22).

Staff presented the testimony of Roberta Bass in support of Staff's recommended 50 basis point reduction in return on equity as a mismanagement penalty. Although Ms. Bass urged the imposition of such a penalty, she candidly acknowledged that the complained of activities had no effect whatsoever on Gulf Power's rates or services:

Q. To your knowledge, have any of the overt acts contained in the plea agreement caused the lights to go out or impacted the reliability of Gulf's service?

A. No. I don't believe it's impacted its reliability.

- Q. Have you made any determination or any assessment of the impact of the overt acts on the rates that are to be set in this rate case? Whether there's been any impact at all?
- A. No. I don't believe any of these amounts impact the current rate case. These are all historical amounts.

## (R. 3035-36, App. Tab 2).

No other testimony was presented on this issue. In particular, there was no evidence suggesting that those activities had any impact upon Gulf Power's rates or service during the test year. In fact, the uncontradicted evidence affirmatively established that no costs associated with those activities or with the investigations of those activities were included in the test year data; thus, any such costs would be borne by Gulf Power's stockholders rather than the ratepayers. (Tr. 305-306; Tr. 695-47).

On the other hand, considerable evidence was presented establishing Gulf Power's low rates and high service reliability during the test year. (Tr. 974-77; Exhibits 3, 4, 15, 16, 183, 606). Without contradiction, the evidence showed that Gulf Power's retail rates were among the lowest in the state, southeast, and nation — and would be even with the full rate relief requested. (Exhibit 4, Page 1; Exhibit 16, Page 2). The evidence also showed that, even with the full amount of rate relief requested, Gulf Power's residential retail rates will actually be lower than in December of 1984, the time of the granting of Gulf Power's last rate increase, and even as long ago as 1982. (Exhibits 3, 4).

The Commission voted on August 14, 1990 to authorize a 12.55% return on equity, resulting in a rate increase of \$14,131,000.

(R. 2400K-2400L). However, the Commission then voted to impose a "penalty" on Gulf Power on the grounds that improper activities of the Company during the years from the early 1980's through 1988 constituted "mismanagement." (Id.; Order at 6-7, 28). The Commission accepted the Staff's recommendation of a 50 basis point reduction for a two year period, thereby lowering Gulf Power's allowable return on equity to 12.05% and resulting in a penalty of \$2,293,000 per year for two years. (Id.)

A formal order to this effect was issued on October 3, 1990.

(R. 2401-2483). In that order, the Commission acknowledged that the revenue requirements of a public utility are determined by its rate base, net operating income and fair rate of return, all as derived from a test year of operations. (Order at 7). The Commission also set forth the principles governing the establishment of the "fair rate of return" that Gulf Power should be given an opportunity to earn on its investment in rate base. The Commission's order stated that the fair rate of return "should be established so as to maintain the Company's financial integrity and to enable it to acquire needed capital at a reasonable cost." (Order at 19).

In order to reach a "fair" overall rate of return, the Commission established an "allowable rate of return on common equity capital," and stated that, based on the evidence in the record, "we find that a reasonable allowed rate of return on

common equity capital for Gulf is 12.55%." (Order at 19-20). This rate, the Commission specifically found, "will allow Gulf the opportunity to raise capital on fair and reasonable terms and to maintain its financial integrity." (Id. at 20). The Commission concluded that this rate was not only "well-supported by the evidence presented," but "represents the best estimate of the Company's cost of equity." (Id.). The Commission further stated, "[W]e believe the appropriate ROE for Gulf Power Company to be 12.55%." (Id. at 29).

Notwithstanding those findings, the Commission then withheld that rate relief for a two-year period. The Commission declared that it took that action as a "penalty" for the past misconduct of Gulf Power employees. (Order at 7).

Specifically, the Commission found that certain "corrupt practices" had taken place at Gulf Power "from the early 1980's through 1988," including theft of Company property, use of Company employees on Company time to perform services for management personnel, executives' accepting appliances without payment, and political contributions made by third parties and illegally charged back to Gulf Power.2/ (Id. at 22). The Commission concluded that Gulf Power management "knew or should have known" of the illegal or unethical conduct and that this constituted "mismanagement." (Id. at 22-23). The Commission also noted that

<sup>2/</sup> Although the Commission's order also criticized certain practices of Gulf Power as violative of the Commission's policy of fuel neutrality, the Commission expressly stated that it imposed no penalty based on those practices. (Order at 46-47).

Gulf Power had paid a \$500,000 fine in connection with a federal grand jury investigation concerning the illegal political contributions. (Order at 24).

There was no finding of any "mismanagement" or "corrupt practices" whatsoever in the test year of 1990. In fact, the evidence showed, without contradiction, that these practices had ceased by that time, and the Commission explicitly found that Gulf Power had "turned the corner" in dealing with this "illegal/unethical behavior." (Order at 29).

As noted above, there was no evidence in this proceeding, and the Commission did not find, that any of the activities the Commission deemed "mismanagement," all of which occurred in the past, had any demonstrable, quantifiable impact on the Company's rates, facilities, or service, either during the time they occurred or thereafter in 1990, the test year. Indeed, this very question is the subject of a pending special investigation (Docket No. 890832-EU), commenced by the Commission to determine what effect, if any, those activities had on the ratepayers, and whether any costs should be disallowed as a result of them. (See Order Granting in Part Citizens' Motion to Spin-Off Investigation of Irregularities at Gulf Power Company, No. 21459, Docket No. 890832-EI, June 28, 1989). Gulf Power has expressly agreed to make appropriate refunds in that proceeding if the Commission determines there was any such impact.

In this proceeding, however, the Commission made no finding that the alleged misconduct had any effect whatever on the Company's service or charges to its customers. The Commission found only that this "hurt the company's relationship with its customers, as was made clear from the testimony customers gave at the service hearings." (Order at 29). Although it is true that there was some testimony by Gulf Power customers criticizing the Company for the past illegal activities of its employees, their testimony was nevertheless unequivocal with respect to the adequacy of Gulf Power's <u>service</u> to its customers. Thus, while customers testifying at the hearings made clear their disapproval of these illegal activities, the <u>only</u> complaints about Gulf Power's service concerned such matters as interruptions of service, and were wholly unrelated to the activities alleged by the Commission to constitute "mismanagement."

To justify the reduction of what it had explicitly found to be the "appropriate" rate of return, the Commission stated that "[a]nalysis of the cost of equity is a subjective process" and declared that it could "take management efficiency into account in setting rates." (Order at 29). As the Commission put it:

It is axiomatic that the involvement of managerial personnel in criminal activities lessened the efficiency of management in providing efficient service.

(<u>Id</u>. at 29). On this basis, the Commission reduced the "appropriate" rate of return by 50 basis points for a two year period and, as a result, Gulf Power will <u>not</u> be allowed to recover that "appropriate" return on equity for those two years.

The Commission explicitly characterized this reduction as a "penalty" imposed "as a message to management" that the type of misconduct found to have occurred would not be tolerated. (Order at 7, 29). The Commission took this action despite the fact that there was absolutely no evidence of any improper conduct during 1990 the test year that had been expressly accepted and used by the Commission in setting Gulf Power's future rates, and despite the Commission's finding that Gulf Power had "turned the corner" in dealing with the prior "mismanagement." Gulf Power now appeals from that ruling of the Commission.

# ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the Commission erred as a matter of law by reducing Gulf Power Company's return on equity as a "penalty," particularly where it was uncontroverted that the corporate misconduct occurred wholly in the past and there was no finding that it had any demonstrable effect on rates or service to customers.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Chapter 366, Florida Statutes, constitutes a carefully tailored statutory scheme governing the PSC's regulation of utilities and, in particular, the Commission's powers in setting rates for the utilities. Under that statutory scheme, penalties may be imposed by the PSC for a utility's refusal to comply with, or its willful violation of, a Commission order or a provision of Chapter 366. The PSC is constitutionally prohibited from imposing a penalty for conduct other than as statutorily authorized. Since the penalty imposed here was not based upon any purported violation of or refusal to comply with PSC orders or Chapter 366, the Commission acted beyond its constitutional authority. The penalty must be reversed for that reason alone.

Further, the imposition of this penalty also violated the Commission's statutory rate-making powers in two fundamental ways. First, rate-making is a prospective matter in all aspects. Since the PSC sets rates for the future, historical matters which have no continuing validity cannot, as a matter of law, be taken into account. Here, however, although the Commission expressly found the "appropriate" future return on equity for Gulf Power to be 12.55% based on the test year evidence, it then refused to grant that return for a two year period as a "penalty" for certain improper activities of the Company which took place wholly in the past, not in the test year. But those historic matters could not, as a matter of law, be relied upon by the PSC to reduce the Company's future rates.

Second, although the PSC is statutorily allowed in setting future rates to take into account the efficiency, sufficiency and adequacy of the "facilities provided and the services rendered," Chapter 366 does not authorize consideration of "management efficiency" apart from its impact on utility rates or service. Yet, that is exactly what the Commission did here. Commission made no finding that Gulf Power's service or facilities were inadequate. In particular, it made no finding and did not point to any evidence of any effect whatsoever that these activities had on the Company's service, facilities, or rates in the test year. In fact, it is engaged at this very time in a separate investigation to determine whether these activities in the past had any adverse impact on Gulf Power's service or rates that would require a refund to the ratepayers. Commission cannot lawfully penalize the Company in this proceeding for a purported adverse impact on service or facilities that has not even been found to exist!

No one, including Gulf Power, suggests that illegal or unethical corporate conduct should be tolerated. The fact is, as the Commission freely acknowledged, Gulf Power had already corrected the past improprieties and instituted measures to prevent any occurrence of such conduct in the future. But the Public Service Commission is not a watch-dog of all improper corporate conduct of a public utility. Instead, it has been

granted specific powers and duties by the Florida Legislature towards the end of assuring reasonable rates and adequate service by the utilities it regulates.

Consistent with that statutory scheme, the PSC has instituted a proceeding to investigate whether the activities in question here adversely impacted upon Gulf Power's service or rates to its customers in the past. The Company has expressly agreed that it will make whatever refunds are found by the Commission to be required by any past adverse effect upon Gulf Power's rates or service. That is the appropriate remedy here — not a massive, undifferentiated penalty imposed on the Company's future rates for past improprieties.

The Commission's imposition of that penalty should be reversed, without prejudice to the Commission's right to require any refund, if found appropriate based on competent, substantial evidence in its parallel investigation, and the Commission should be directed to allow Gulf Power the rate relief it found to be "appropriate" under the evidence adduced in this proceeding.

#### ARGUMENT

The Commission Erred As A Matter of Law By Imposing The Penalty Against Gulf Power.

Finding that Gulf Power was guilty of "mismanagement" in connection with the improper conduct described in its order, the Commission ordered a 50-basis point reduction in the Company's return on equity for a two-year period. (Order at 29). The Commission did not take that punitive action based upon any finding that the misconduct adversely affected Gulf Power's facilities or service to its customers or otherwise impacted the test year selected by the Commission in order to set the Company's future rates. Rather, it was admittedly a "penalty" imposed in order to send a "message" that such conduct was improper and would not be condoned by the Commission. (Order at 7, 29).

The inescapable fact remains, however, that this "penalty" is not authorized by the Florida Statutes and it accordingly must be reversed as exceeding the constitutional powers of the Commission. Furthermore, this penalty must also be reversed because it directly contravenes settled requirements of rate-making established by the Florida Legislature and this Court.

A. The Reduction In Return On Equity Constitutes An Improper Administrative Penalty In Violation Of the Florida Constitution.

Article I, Section 18 of the Florida Constitution specifically provides that:

No administrative agency shall impose a sentence of imprisonment, nor shall it impose any other penalty except as provided by law.

This constitutional proscription has been consistently enforced by Florida courts to bar attempts by administrative agencies to impose penalties without explicit statutory authority to do so.3/See, e.g., Willner v. Dep't of Professional Regulation, 563 So.2d 805, 806 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990); PAC for Equality v. Dep't of State, 542 So.2d 459, 460 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989); Broward County v. Plantation Imports, Inc., 419 So.2d 1145, 1148 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982); McFarlin v. State, Dep't of Business Regulation, 405 So.2d 255, 256 (Fla. 3d DCA), dismissed, 411 So.2d 383 (Fla. 1981).

Thus, the power to impose penalties cannot be implied from a general grant of authority to perform acts necessary to carry out the agency's statutory purposes. Continental Constr. Co. v. Bd. of Trustees, 464 So.2d 204, 207 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), review denied, 472 So.2d 1180 (Fla. 1985); see also Willner, 563 So.2d at 806-807; Holmberg v. Dep't of Natural Resources, 503 So.2d 944 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977). Rather, there must be an explicit grant of the power to impose administrative penalties.

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