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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The appropriate rate of return on equity to be allowed by a 

utility commission is a matter of economic judgment based on future 

expectations. These expectations are reflected in the inclusion of 

known and projected expenses and other economic factors in a 

selected test year. Consideration of mismanagement as a factor in 

the Commission's rate-setting was a proper means of accounting for 

prospective market expectations. The Commission, therefore, did 

not abuse its discretion or violate the essential requirements of 

law in this case. 

Article I, Section 18 of the Florida Constitution prohibits an 

agency from improperly penalizing wrongdoing. Since rate 

adjustment is remedial in nature and not a penalty for wrongdoing, 

the Florida Constitution does not prohibit the Commission's action 

in this case. Gulf has confused the quasi-legislative, price- 

setting "penalty" imposed by the PSC with the quasi-judicial, 

punitive penalties referenced in the constitution. 

6 



ARGUMENT 

I. 

THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION MAY REDUCE AN ELECTRIC 
UTILITY'S ALLOWED RETURN ON EQUITY FOR MISMANAGEMENT AS 
PART OF THE RATE-SETTING PROCESS. 

Utility commissions serve several distinct functions. Their 

underlying purpose is to simulate competition in the rate-setting 

process by providing a marketplace surrogate for industries 

permitted to operate as monopolies. This role is forward-looking 

and quasi-legislative in nature.2 It is an exercise of the police 

power to protect the public health, safety and welfare. 5 366.01, 

Fla. Stat. (1989). The process culminates in an order establishing 

the economic relationship between a utility and its customers for 

the future. To this end, the agency may discipline prices in the 

same manner as the market; efficiency is rewarded and inefficiency 

is penalized over future periods. 3 

'See United Telephone Companv v. Mavo, 345 So.2d 648, 654 
(Fla. 1977) ("The law is well established in this State that the 
matter of rate regulation is essentially one of legislative 
control. The fixing of rates is not a judicial function; hence our 
right to review the conclusion of the legislature or of an 
administrative body acting upon authority delegated by the 
legislature is limited.Il) ; Cooper v. Tampa Electric Company, 17 
So.2d 785, 786 (Fla. 1944) (Il[T]he power to prescribe rates for 
public utility service is a legislative prerogative which may be 
done directly or through a commission empowered to do so."). 

3See United Gas Pipe Line Company v. Bevis, 336 So.2d 560, 564 
(Fla. 1976) ( "The State s regulation of commercial enterprise is 
generally a bilateral bargain. The enterprise gives up an 
unlimited right to compete in the marketplace and relinquishes, 
among other business prerogatives, the freedom to set its own 
prices. In exchange, the State guarantees (among other things) at 
least an opportunity to earn a reasonable return on capital and a 
forum in which to seek price adjustments.Il); Re Burlinqton 

(continued ...) 
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Use of the word l'penalizedvt in this context is not improper, 

nor inconsistent with everyday usage. Perhaps the Commission's 

characterization of Gulf's return-on-equity adjustment as a penalty 

in Order No. 23573, at 7, was inartful given that Section 366.095, 

Florida Statutes (1989), which is not concerned with ratemaking, is 

entitled llPenalties.ll But use of the word does not, of itself, 

remove the adjustment from the quasi-legislative arena and invoke 

a punitive, retrospective process. 

A rate of return is never guaranteed. Regulation only offers 

an opportunity for the common stockholder to earn a fair return 

after prudent expenses and debt service are met out of revenues. 

The estimation of a fair return has, accordingly, been recognized 

as an exercise of agency expertise. See Utilities, Inc. v. Florida 

Public Service Commission, 420 So.2d 331, 333 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982): 

[Tlhe fair and proper rate of return on equity capital 
for a utility of the type and size of appellant was not 
one susceptible to ordinary methods of proof; instead it 
was essentially a matter of opinion which necessarily had 
to be infused by policy considerations for which the PSC 
has special responsibility. 

In United Telephone Company of Florida v. Mann, 403 So.2d 962, 

966 (Fla. 1981), the Court explained the steps taken to arrive at 

an overall rate of return as follows: 

The method of calculating 
primarily based upon calculating 
capital. There are three main 

a rate of return is 
the cost of investment 
sources of investment 

3(...continued) 
Telephone Company, 73 PUR4th 209, 214 (Vt. Public Serv. Bd. 1986) 
("Where a natural monopoly was determined to exist for the 
provision of an essential good, government often substituted 
economic regulation -- that is, price and rate of return regulation 
-- for the competitive marketplace.Il) 
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capital: debt, preferred stock and common stock. The 
cost of the first two sources can be mathematically 
derived whereas the cost of common stock is a matter of 
economic iudsment. Each of these costs expressed in 
terms of percentage is then multiplied by that particular 
source's capitalization ratio to achieve a weighted 
average. The sum of these weighted averages is the rate 
of return. After this figure is reached, the commission 
can make further adjustments to account for such thinss 
as accretion, attrition, inflation and manaqement 
efficiency. [Emphasis added.] 

Any adjustment the Commission might make for management efficiency 

would, in all likelihood, be characterized as a bonus, or reward, 

for competence or a penalty for inadequacy. Furthermore, the 

adjustment would necessarily take into consideration performance 

from prior periods. The modification, however, would still be part 

of a prospective, price-setting process. 4 

Utility commissions also serve a quasi-judicial function, 

levying fines f o r  breaches of rules, orders and  statute^.^ This 

process involves the relationship between the utility and its 

regulator. Firms in the competitive environment are also subject 

to penalties imposed by various agencies governing such things as 

licensing and the manner in which goods and services are provided 

41n Hvman v. State, Dept. of Business Requlation, 431 So.2d 
603, 605 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983), the court observed that "[tlhe over- 
ninety pages devoted to the word in 31A Words and Phrases 'Penalty' 
(1957) give eloquent witness to the wisdom of Justice Cardozo's 
remark that "'[p]enaltyl' is a term of varying and uncertain 
meaning.' Life and Casualty Ins. Co. v. McCray, 291 U.S. 566, 574, 
54 S.Ct. 482, 486, 78 L.Ed. 987, 992 (1934)." 

5For a general discussion of the history of the Public Service 
Commission and the Legislature's ability to delegate both 
legislative and judicial functions to it, see In re Advisory 
Opinion to the Governor, 223 So.2d 35 (Fla. 1969). See also Article 
V, Section 1, Florida Constitution ("Commissions established by law . . . may be granted quasi-judicial power in matters connected with 
their off ices. 'I) 
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to the public. A penalty of this nature is retrospective, 

depriving a business of earnings for infractions in the past. The 

penalty is independent of the return stockholders would otherwise 

earn from either real or simulated competition. 

The Commission may impose fines for an electric utilityls 

refusal to comply with, or willful violation of, any lawful rule or 

order, or of any provision of Chapter 366, pursuant to Section 

366.095, Florida Statutes (1989). Unlike the rate-setting process, 

which may result in reduced rates or refunds to customers, fines 

levied by the PSC are paid into the State's General Revenue Fund. 

5 350.127, Fla. Stat. (1989). Rates cannot be reduced 

prospectively nor can excess rates from past periods be returned to 

customers under the provisions of Section 366.095. 

This distinction served to differentiate between penalties and 

restitution in Hyman, supra, 431 So.2d at 603. In that case, the 

Third District Court of Appeal considered a rule adopted by the 

Division of Pari-Mutual Wagering. The rule required the owner of 

a race horse found to have been drugged to return his winnings. 

- Id. at 604. The innocence of the owner was irrelevant. Id. The 

purse was distributed among other horse owners in relation to 

purses they would have received if the drugged thoroughbred had not 

run. Id. at 605. If the return of the purse were a penalty, 

payment would have to be made to the State, not to other owners. 

The court concluded the remedial nature of the rule served to 

distinguish it from a penalty for wrongdoing under Article I, 

Section 18 of the Florida Constitution. Id. at 604. 
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The difference between a penalty requiring payment to the 

State and a reduction in rates to customers points out the 

inconsistency in Gulf's basic position in this appeal. On the one 

hand, the utility contends that the Commission can only impose a 

penalty pursuant to its specific statutory authority under Section 

366.095. On the other, it states in its Summary of Argument, at 

page 13, that it will make refunds to its customers if the 

Commission finds any impropriety in the other docket: 

Consistent with that statutory scheme, the PSC has 
instituted a proceeding to investigate whether the 
activities in question here adversely impacted upon Gulf 
Power's service or rates to its customers in the past. 
The Company has expressly agreed that it will make 
whatever refunds are found by the Commission to be 
required by any past adverse effect upon Gulf Power's 
rates or service. That is the appropriate remedy here -- 
not a massive, undifferentiated penalty imposed on the 
Company's future rates for past improprieties. [Emphasis 
by Gulf]. 

In other words, Gulf concedes the Commission's inherent authority 

to make adjustments in the rate-setting context, which is precisely 

what was done in Order No. 23573. 

Contrary to Gulf's protestations, special significance cannot 

be attached to the creation of a special docket to evaluate 

managerial imprudence. The Commission had established a separate 

docket only because Gulf withdrew its 1988 rate filing. This 

action preserved the issue of mismanagement which would, otherwise, 

have been heard in the context of a rate case. The utility's rate 

filing in 1989 provided the occasion to return the issue to its 

original forum. 
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This is not the first time Gulf has appealed Commission 

action, claiming it is entitled to recover all its expenses and 

earn a fair return without regard to what might happen to a 

competitive firm. In Gulf Power Company v. Bevis, 296 So.2d 482, 

487-88 (Fla. 1974), the Court responded as follows to the utility's 

claim that the Commission could not apportion the burden of a newly 

enacted state income tax between the company and its customers, 

because to do so would penalize the company by reducing its earned 

return : 

As pointed out by the Commission, it has 
considerable discretion and latitude in the rate-fixing 
process. In City of Miami v. Public Service Commission 
(Fla. 1968), 208 So. 2d 249, upon reviewing the statutes 
empowering the Commission to fix rates we concluded 
"these statutes repose considerable discretion in the 
Commission in the rate-making process.l' 

Although public utilities are in most instances 
monopolies and consequently governments fix their rates, 
it does not follow that they are wholly differentiated in 
respect to tax burdens from private corporations whose 
rates are unregulated. Assuming the "zone of 
reasonablenessv1 of a utility's rate is just, there is 
latitude as in the case of a private corporation for it 
to earn, with the exercise of business incentive and 
enterprise and economy, profits sufficient to bear a fair 
share of the corporate income tax burden without 
deprivation or confiscation. Petitioners appear to want 
a guaranteed cost-plus arrangement in the rate-fixing 
process eliminating any sharing of this tax burden which 
unregulated corporations cannot altogether escape. 
Petitioners overlook that a fixed utility rate -- an 
estimated one -- which operates prospectively, if within 
the "zone of reasonablenessv1 is very similar to the 
prices or charges that an unregulated corporation may 
reasonably require in the competitive market. The 
utility company and the unregulated company draw their 
sources of income from consumers. Neither one should 
expect to be able to "pass on" completely their tax 
burdens to their patrons or consumers without some impact 
on their profits. The Commission's rule realistically 
recognizes the inevitable necessity of both the regulated 
and the unregulated corporate entity sharing tax burdens 
from their profits. 
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Later, in Gulf Power Company v. Florida Public Service 

Commission, 453 So.2d 799, 801 (Fla. 1984), the Court rejected the 

utility's contention that an adjustment reducing rate base for 

unused capacity actually impaired its earned rate of return: 

Gulf raises the following argument[] in its appeal . . . that the commission's denial of rates that will 
produce a reasonable rate of return for Gulf Power 
Company constitutes confiscation in violation of the 
fifth and fourteenth amendments of the Constitution of 
the United States, articles I and X of the Constitution 
of the State of Florida, section 366.041, Florida 
Statutes (1981) , and exceeds its authority. We disagree 
with appellant's assertions and affirm the order of the 
PSC. 

Any disallowance of expenses actually incurred or investment 

actually made impairs a utility's earned rate of return. In Gulf's 

view, such adjustments would constitute penalties in contravention 

of Article I, Section 18, Florida Constitution, and Section 

366.095, Florida Statutes (1989). Yet, the Court has repeatedly 

upheld the Commission's adjustments and disallowances. 

Furthermore, in each case, the action was taken within the 

ratemaking process, thus affecting the economic relationship of the 

utility and its customers. a, u., Gulf Power Companv v. 
Florida Public Service Commission, 487 So.2d 1036 (Fla. 1986) and 

Florida Power Corporation v. Cresse, 413 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 1982) 

(ordering customer refunds because managerial imprudence caused 

fuel costs to be excessive). 

Gulf has chosen, for its own purposes, to confuse the quasi- 

legislative, price-setting "penalty" imposed by the PSC with the 

quasi-judicial, punitive penalties referenced in Article I, Section 

18 of the Florida Constitution, and Section 366.095, Florida 
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Statutes (1989). Acceptance of the utility's arguments would 

require the Court to conclude that the PSC's ratemaking authority 

is severely circumscribed, that even the most inefficient electric 

utility must be given the opportunity to earn for its shareholders 

what the most efficient utility is entitled to. Moreover, in 

Gulf's view, inefficiency can never be recognized unless particular 

acts are found to be violative of specific rules, orders or 

statutes. 

In support of its position, Gulf cites (Initial brief, at 16) 

to Florida Telephone Corporation v. Carter, 70 So.2d 508 (Fla. 

1954), which held that the Commission could not deny a rate 

increase as a penalty for inadequate service. However, that case 

was followed by United Telephone Company of Florida v. Mayo, 215 

So.2d 609 (Fla. 1968), cert. dism. 22 L.Ed.774, 394 U.S. 995, 89 

S.Ct. 1589. In this latter case, the Court upheld the Commission's 

refusal to grant a rate increase until improvements planned by the 

utility were finished: 

Squarely in the path of those who would oppose the ruling 
by the Commission is Fla.Stat. I 366.041 (1967), F.S.A., 
Ch. 67-326, Laws of Florida, which plainly authorizes 
what was done in this case. [Quotation from statute 
omitted. ] 

The Court noted that Section 366.041 was enacted after its decision 

in Florida Telephone, and "for ought we know, was intended to 

overcome that decision." 215 So.2d at 610. The company's attack 

on constitutional grounds -- denial of requested rate relief as a 
taking without due process -- was considered tlunusualtl and rejected 

by the court. Id. The statutory language relied on by the Court 
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appears today, virtually unchanged, in Section 366.041, Florida 

Statutes (1989) .6 

The Court addressed both Florida Telephone and United 

Telephone v. Mavo in Askew v. Bevis, 283 So.2d 337 (Fla. 1973). In 

that case the Court upheld the Commission's decision to authorize 

a rate increase but subject it to a bonding requirement so refunds 

could be ordered if service was not improved. Id. at 341. The 

Court found that the Commission was authorized but not required to 

withhold a rate increase if service was unsatisfactory under United 

Telephone v. Mavo. - Id. at 339. The Court noted that the 

Legislature had responded to its decision in Florida Telephone by 

granting additional powers and greater flexibility to the 

Commission by adopting Section 366.041 (1967). Id. at 340. 

This line of cases continued with North Florida Water Company

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